SOCIAL WORK HANDBOOK

2022-2023

Electronic copies of this handbook can be found on the Social Work Program Website at

https://www.malone.edu/academics/colleges-schools/theology-arts-sciences/departments/social-work/student-resources/

MALONE UNIVERSITY SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM

Updated 2/23

Table of Contents

PURPOSE OF THIS HANDBOOK	3
HISTORY OF SOCIAL WORK	3
OHIO STATE SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE	3
CAREERS IN SOCIAL WORK	4
MALONE UNIVERSITY AND SOCIAL WORK	4
CONNECTING CURRICULUM AND COMMUNITY	5
SOCIAL WORK EDUCATION	7
The Generalist Social Work Perspective:	7
WHY Do Social Workers Do This Work?	5 7 7 7
HOW Does Social Work Do This Work?	7
Social Work's Distinctive Feature Among the Helping Professions	8
The 'Micro-Mezzo-Macro' Integration	8
SOCIAL WORK AND THE LIBERAL ARTS	9
Liberal Arts Content and the Social Work Curriculum	
Generalist Social Work Practice	10
SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM MISSION STATEMENT	11
SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM GOALS	11
SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM STUDENT LEARNING COMPETENCIES	11
EVALUATION MECHANISMS	12
MALONE UNIVERSITY SOCIAL WORK CURRICULUM	12
General Education Requirements	12
Required Support Courses	13
Social Work Courses	13
Social Work Course Descriptions	14
DIVERSITY AND SOCIAL WORK	17
SOCIAL WORK GATE INTERVIEW	17
Background Check Facts	18
COURSE PERFORMANCE	20
APPLICATION TO FIELD WORK	21
TRANSFER POLICY	21
STUDENT INFORMATION ON FILE	22
ACADEMIC GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	22
Informal Process	22
Formal Process	23
ACADEMIC HONESTY	31
ACADEMIC PETITION	31
ACCESSIBILITY SERVICES — DISABILITY ACCOMMODATIONS STATEMENT	32
ATTENDANCE POLICY	32
COMPLETION OF WORK	32
ADVANCED PLACEMENT: ACADEMIC CREDIT THROUGH EXAMINATION	33
STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY	33
TERMINATION FROM THE PROGRAM	35

FACULTY ACCOUN	TABILITY	37
NASW CODE OF ET	HICS	37
OHIO CODE OF ETHICA	AL PRACTICE AND PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT	37
SOCIAL WORK PROGR	RAM POLICY ON ACADEMIC WRITING	38
APA Format		38
SOCIAL WORK STU	JDENT ASSOCIATIONS	38
FULL-TIME FACULT	TY INFORMATION	39
Associate Profess	or Andy Reynolds, MSW, LCSW, PhD	39
Professor Elizabet	th Patterson Roe, Ph.D. MSW, LISW-S	40
Instructor of Socia	ıl Work Rebekka Russell, MSW, LSW	40
MALONE UNIVERS	ITY AND SOCIAL WORK ACCREDITATION AGENCIES	41
APPENDICES	41Appendix 1: CSWE EDUCATIONAL POLICY AND ACCRED	
STANDARDS		43
• •	ne University Identity and Mission Statement	53
• •	nation Release Form	55
Appendix 4: Malor	ne University Reference Form	57

PURPOSE OF THIS HANDBOOK

This handbook describes the purposes, policies and procedures of the social work program at Malone University. Malone University is proud to have a social work program that has been accredited by the Council on Social Work Education since 1984. An introduction to social work values and fields of practice is described in this handbook, as well as courses required to receive a bachelor's degree in social work. This handbook also includes both the procedure for acceptance into the major and the requirements for a student to remain in good standing within the program.

READ IT CAREFULLY!!! This handbook offers majors and those considering social work as a career, a picture of this demanding profession. Students are encouraged to critically evaluate the fit between their personal values, abilities and interests, and this profession. Feel free to explore your questions with social work faculty. Faculty names and contact numbers are listed under faculty information in this handbook.

HISTORY OF SOCIAL WORK

Social Work, as a profession, is over 155 years old. Although in every culture there have always been efforts to help vulnerable people, social work in America traces its origins to the American Social Science Association, founded in 1865, and the Conference on Charities, founded in 1879. In this country, Social Work traditionally had two approaches in its work—helping people improve their abilities to function in a changing culture, and working for improvement of the country's social, political and economic policies and laws which impact people's lives.

Mary Richmond's, *Social Diagnosis*, published in 1917 was instrumental in moving Social Work along its path of *professionalization*. The Charity Organization Societies and those working within the Friendly Visitor Program focused on "people changes." Jane Addams and the Settlement House Movement worked for just policies and improved community life, such as child labor laws and labor conditions in general, women's suffrage, ethnic and racial discrimination, voting issues and educational reform. These remain important foundations for social work practice theory. Empowering vulnerable people to make changes in their lives and work on the local, state and national level to create a more just society are a bedrock of concern in the profession.

OHIO STATE SOCIAL WORK LICENSURE

In July 1984, Ohio Governor Richard Celeste signed into law Amended Substitute House Bill 205. This bill requires licensure for anyone being paid to practice social work and for all paid positions with the title of Social Worker. It also requires licensure for all counselors, as well as Marriage and Family Therapists. The law created the State of Ohio Counselor and Social Worker Board. The Ohio Legislature modified the law by enacting SB 223 in 1996, and again in 2003. The Board now governs professional practice for social workers, counselors and marriage and family therapists. Social Workers and Counselors must abide by the Ohio Laws and Rules (OAC4757-5-01).

In April of 2014, the Ohio Legislative Assembly passed House Bill 232. This bill requires that any person who has the title "social worker" must be licensed in the state of Ohio. It removed an exemption for civil service employees that had been in place since the law was initially passed, with very few exceptions. To be licensed, social workers must graduate from a program accredited by the Council on Social Work Education.

Social Work licensure is a two-step process. Eligibility is initially based on the applicant's academic training. Graduation from a CSWE accredited program in social work is required. In addition, the applicant must pass the licensing exam. This exam is offered at testing centers throughout Ohio. The exam is composed of multiple choice items that cover a wide range of social work theory, practice skills and professional issues. The exams are scored through a computerized program with a score of 70% needed to receive licensure. If one passes the exam, one may call themselves a social worker within the state of Ohio. If one does not pass, it is possible to take the exam again after a period of several weeks.

Title protection for social workers was challenged In 2022, when House Bill 509 in Ohio was originally written to remove social work title protection. Language about removing title protection was amended and not included in the final bill, therefore social workers in Ohio continue to have title protection.

CAREERS IN SOCIAL WORK

Social work is extremely diverse in its practice arenas and people with whom it works. Graduates of baccalaureate programs most often find jobs as entry level workers in the areas of child welfare, family services, mental health, school-based programs, programs for individuals with developmental disabilities, mental health concerns, juvenile justice, and services for the elderly. Careers in health care services and substance abuse programs are also available.

MALONE UNIVERSITY AND SOCIAL WORK

Malone University is a four-year liberal arts institution affiliated with the Evangelical Friends Church. The EFC is one of several groups that identify with a rich Quaker heritage. Malone was founded in 1892 as Cleveland Bible College by Friends couple, Walter and Emma Malone. At that time, it was located in Cleveland, Ohio. The College moved to Canton, Ohio in 1957, changed its name in honor of its founders to Malone University, and became a four-year liberal arts University.

Social Work is a missional major to provide for students of Malone University. Walter and Emma Malone, the University's founders, were actively involved in providing direct services to Cleveland's poor (shelter, food and education). Malone's Social Work Program began in 1978 and received initial accreditation by the Council on Social Work Education in 1984. The program was fully accredited in 1992, and reaffirmation was successfully completed in 2001, 2008, and 2016. The Malone University Social Work Program is fully accredited and will come up again for reaffirmation in June, 2024.

This bit of history is important for several reasons. *Malone University's stated mission is* "to provide students with an education based on biblical faith in order to develop men and women in intellectual maturity, wisdom, and Christian faith who are committed to serving the church, community, and world." Malone University's social work program believes that maturity, wisdom, integrity and service are several of the critical attributes needed to become a social worker. The religious orientation of the University attracts a large number of students who hold to a Christian worldview, but over 18% of students do not have a religious affiliation. Malone emphasizes a liberal arts education that requires a commitment to free inquiry and an exposure to the diversity and richness of human life. Students who graduate from Malone are prepared to integrate faith and embrace a changing and pluralistic world. Malone University has an open admissions policy to all academically qualified people who are willing to follow the school's Community Agreement. Malone University will not discriminate in its admissions or education based on multiple factors including but not limited to age, class, color, culture, disability and ability, ethnicity, gender, gender identity and expression, immigration status, marital status, political ideology, race, religion/spirituality, sex, sexual orientation, and tribal sovereign status. "Malone University, as a learning community committed to biblical principles, seeks to value and reflect the diversity in God's creation. Therefore, we are committed to promoting inclusive excellence and furthering our understanding of diversity as we live out our mission and educational goals." (excerpt from Malone University Diversity and Inclusion Statement)

CONNECTING CURRICULUM AND COMMUNITY

Malone University is situated in Canton, OH. This is a city of 70,230 people located within an increasingly urban county. The city was founded over 200 years ago as a trade post for manufactured goods and agricultural products. It was well served by both rail and road. In its first century, Canton relied heavily on the development of heavy industry. It flourished during the early half of the 20th century and became known as the home to several large manufacturing firms.

That being said, the community still has many concerns with which to contend. In 2019, the Strengthening Stark Community Assessment indicated through their published work that 14% of all Stark County households have incomes that are below the poverty line. Many of those individuals live within the limits of Canton city. In 2017, the unemployment rate within Stark County was 5.6% (as compared to Ohio's rate of 5.1%). In 2017, the median household income within Canton city was \$30,837.

The counties to the South and West of Stark County remain primarily rural communities. Columbiana and Carroll Counties, to the southeast, retain a significant rural culture although the shale oil boom (as well as its current slowdown) have affected these counties significantly. Tuscarawas County, directly south, is the northernmost county of the Ohio Appalachian Communities. Holmes and Wayne Counties, to the west, contain some of the richest farmland in the United States and is home to many Amish and Conservative Mennonite communities. Summit County and Portage counties, to the north, are more urban and industrialized. Mahoning County, directly east of Stark County boasts a number of cities, but has also suffered greatly since the collapse of Big Steel in the 1980's.

Many neighborhoods within the Canton city limits are seen as historically distinct by their residents: several have neighborhood associations which assist with community events and efforts toward community building. These associations have played important roles as the city population has shrunk and community culture has changed.

Canton is the largest of three cities within Stark County. The total county population in 2021 was 373,834

(https://datacommons.org/place/geold/39151?utm_medium=explore&mprop=count&popt=Person&hl=en). The two other cities within Stark County limits are Alliance, to the east of Canton, and Massillon to the west. Townships and unincorporated villages can be found within the county. Although there has been significant growth in many formerly rural communities within the county, some areas retain a distinctive and often more rural normative culture. Both these types of communities have distinct histories, activities, and concerns. Social service organizations such as The United Way, Urban League, and several social service agencies serve the entire community. School rivalries and community events forge a sense of uniqueness for neighborhood members.

The Social Work program at Malone utilizes this urban learning context, as well as the surrounding, more rural community and international platform to assist students to understand and utilize generalist skills. The program emphasizes training students to utilize techniques that emphasize strengthening person—in-environment fit. The program seeks to produce entry-level generalist social workers that are able to recognize individual resilience and empower those served toward optimal functioning within their social context.

The county social service providers endeavor to bring services to many different groups and individuals. In many cases, these providers work well together, cooperatively seeking to find creative solutions to complex problems in an increasingly difficult fiscal environment. Social work majors have a wide variety of opportunities to observe and practice generalist skills throughout the community. Sophomore field placement and accompanying classroom discussions provide a context for generalist practice. Juniors are involved with community development work in the poorest neighborhoods within the community. Seniors are provided with opportunities to develop and practice generalist skills in the context of their senior internship: a comprehensive 450-hour total commitment.

Starting with Introduction to Social Work, all of social work's core courses bring the community into the classroom or provide opportunities for students to interact with those living in Canton and surrounding neighborhoods. Guest speakers, people from the professional community as well as community residents, frequent Malone's social work classes. Students are encouraged to attend professional events both on and off campus and to reinforce this learning through community engagement.

SOCIAL WORK EDUCATION

Malone's Social Work Program is designed to address three issues facing social work education:

- 1. Articulating and communicating a uniform definition of generalist practice
- 2. Building on the liberal arts
- 3. Connecting curriculum with community.

The Generalist Social Work Perspective:

"Generalist practice is grounded in the liberal arts and the person-in-environment framework. To promote human and social well-being, generalist practitioners use a range of prevention and intervention methods in their practice with diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities based on scientific inquiry and best practices. The generalist practitioner identifies with the social work profession and applies ethical principles and critical thinking in practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels. Generalist practitioners engage diversity in their practice and advocate for human rights and social and economic justice. They recognize, support, and build on the strengths and resiliency of all human beings. They engage in research-informed practice and are proactive in responding to the impact of context on professional practice." (EP 2.0, 2015 EPAS)

Social Work's emphasis on *person-in-environment* fit sees people's strengths and their concerns within the context of their social functioning. As people identify strengths and relate them to their concerns, they strengthen relationship-building skills, improve social functioning, and are in a position to contribute to the building of community. Social Work's holistic, theoretical, orientation suggests THREE FUNCTIONS social workers are trained to do: (1) help people make personal changes, (2) link people to resources, and (3) help people to initiate changes in social policies, laws, and institutions which impact their lives. Social Work facilitates change, helps build strengths, and empowers people to solve problems.

WHY Do Social Workers Do This Work?

As a profession, Social Work claims six core values: the importance of human relationships, service, competency, integrity, social justice, and dignity and worth of the person. Promotion of these values optimizes people's access to resources that enhance human development. Social Worker professional practices are driven by these six values and are central to helping people make personal changes, linking them to resources, and helping people change systems impacting their lives.

HOW Does Social Work Do This Work?

Social Work's knowledge base is holistic and interactionist. This theoretical orientation is especially fitting for Malone University's mission and its social work program's mission (see Social Work Program Mission Statement in this Handbook). Course work and internships invite students to identify and respond to the interplay between people's physical needs, their

psycho-social development, eco-systems, the strength's perspective, and anti-oppressive practice toward a planned change process.

Social Work's Distinctive Feature Among the Helping Professions

The *relationship* between each aspect inherent in Malone's definition of social work is the distinctive feature. The *relationship* makes the *whole greater than the sum of the parts*. Facilitating personal change, linking people to resources, and working for system changes requires a holistic, interactionist theoretical orientation and skill base. This then is driven by social work's core values: the importance of human relationships, service, integrity, competency, social justice, and dignity and worth of the person.

'Micro-Mezzo-Macro' Integration

The Social Work Program structures its core theory and practice courses in order to address the 'micro-mezzo-macro' integration. Students complete three practice/theory courses. The first course, SWK 345: Practice with Individuals, introduces students to the social work planned change process and discusses the use of this process in working with individual clients. The second course, SWK 347: Practice with Families and Groups, discusses the application of the planned change process to work with families and small groups. The third course in the practice sequence, SWK 348: Community and Organizational Development, focuses on social work with organizations, and communities. Students are thus taught that the social work change process is similar, whatever the size of the client system. The use of an ecosystemic perspective as one of the foundational theory-bases for the courses ensures that students understand the importance of simultaneous application of the planned change process across various levels of practice and with client systems of varied size and complexity.

SOCIAL WORK AND THE LIBERAL ARTS

Social Workers are best able to serve their clients when they have both the competency to help and the ability to listen to the needs of the diverse persons served by the profession. The social work program requires its majors to meet both the General Education requirements of the University, and to take additional support courses in the liberal arts. These additional courses are designed to assist students to embrace and serve an increasingly diverse world.

The chart below provides an outline of specific General Education courses that social work students take as well as the additional liberal arts courses required as part of the social work support course package. All majors must maintain an overall 2.5 major GPA in the combination of social work prefix courses and all required support courses to advance in the major.

Liberal Arts Content and the Social Work Curriculum

Foundation Courses	Support Content:	Liberal Arts Categories: General Education Courses
SWK 222: Introduction to Profession and Practice of Social Work	PSYC 121	Engaging in Human Experience
SWK 242: Human Behavior and Social Environment	PSYC 121: PSYC 220 (pre or co-requisite)	Engaging in Human Experience
SWK 262: Research and Writing for Social Work Professionals	ENG 145	Foundational Skills
SWK 311: History of Social Welfare	HIST 112	Engaging in Cultures and Institutions
SWK 312: Social Welfare Policy Analysis	HIST 211 or HIST 212, POL 201	Engaging in Cultures and Institutions
SWK 345: Practice with Individuals	BIOL 172, SOC 310	Engaging in Created Order (BIO 172)
SWK 347: Practice with Families and Groups	PSYC 344	Engaging in Human Experience
SWK 348: Community and Organizational Development	POL 201	American Cultures and Institutions
SWK 372: Methods of Social Research	PSYC 140	Foundational Skills
SWK 401: Professional Issues in Social Work	All of the above	Foundations of Faith and Learning Foundational Skills Engaging Created Order
SWK 440: Field Instruction in Social Work	All of the above and Gate Requirement Passage	Foundations of Faith and Learning Foundational Skills Engaging Created Order
SWK 460: Field Instruction Seminar	All of the above and Gate Requirement Passage	Foundations of Faith and Learning Foundational Skills Engaging Created Order
SWK 470: Social Work Specialization Seminar	All of the above	Foundations of Faith and Learning Foundational Skills Engaging Created Order

Generalist Social Work Practice



Knowledge -Liberal Arts Foundation -Social Work Support Courses Educational Electives -Life Experience -Openness to the Diversity of Human Experience Professional **Work Method** -Introduction to Social Work -HBSE –Social Work Methods -Social Work Research Skill/Expertis е -Practice -Practicums Professional **Values** -Ethics Infused Curriculum Observation of Other **Professionals**

-Celebration of Diversity
-Appropriate Integration of
Faith and Spirituality

Laws-Social Policy Coursework

Advocacy Opportunities

Policy &

To

Impact:

Individual Chang To Assist Family/Group Individual and Change Concern/Need Emp[Community/ Community/ Change in All Organizational Family/Group Organizational **Effected Systems** Change Concern/Need Concern/Nee d

Building on strength

Facilitating change

Empowering
Micah 6:8

SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM MISSION STATEMENT

The Malone University Social Work Program draws on its unique context as an Evangelical Friends institution with access to urban, rural, and international practice opportunities to prepare entry-level social work practitioners who are capable of culturally appropriate practice across diverse populations who promote social justice and who can ethically integrate Christian faith with social work practice. This foundation fosters the growth of practice wisdom and scientific inquiry with an overarching purpose of enhancing the quality of life for micro, mezzo, and macro systems in relation to their environment.

SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM GOALS

The goals of the social work program are to:

- 1. Prepare students for beginning generalist social work practice. This includes developing entry level competency across system levels, meeting licensure requirements and developing an awareness of the importance of ongoing professional development.
 - assists students to develop competencies 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9
- 2. Assist students to recognize their own heritage and traditions and to gain knowledge and perspective to engage people from cultures, ethnic groups, and religions different from their own.
 - assists students to develop competencies 1,2,3,4,6,7,8,9,10
- 3. Assist students understand the interface between personal faith and social work, and to be able to make appropriate applications of each.
 - assists students to develop competencies 1,2,3,6,7,8,10

SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM STUDENT LEARNING COMPETENCIES

Graduates of the Malone University Social Work Program will:

- 1. Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior.
- 2. Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice.
- 3. Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice.
- 4. Engage in Practice-informed Research and Research-informed Practice.
- 5. Engage in Policy Practice.
- 6. Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities.

- 7. Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities.
- 8. Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities.
- 9. Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities.
- 10. Appropriately integrate Christian faith with professional social work practice and recognize the importance of spirituality to the human experience. (Malone University Social Work Program Core Competency #10)

EVALUATION MECHANISMS

The Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) requires accredited programs to demonstrate that their students are competent in the required 9 competencies and any additional social work program specific competencies. In addition, the Malone University Program has added a 10th competency which is unique to the program. (See CSWE Educational Policies and Accreditation Standards, Appendix I.) Within each course, diverse mechanisms such as papers, exams, journals, community service projects, role plays, video work, group presentations, and field work are used to evaluate student competence.

MALONE UNIVERSITY SOCIAL WORK CURRICULUM

The social work curriculum at Malone University has three components:

- 1. General Education Courses
- 2. Social Work Support Courses
- 3. Social Work Professional courses

General Education Requirements

The mission of Malone University is to "provide students with an education based on Biblical faith in order to develop men and women in intellectual maturity, wisdom, and Christian faith who are committed to serving the church, community, and world." The general education curriculum at Malone University plays a central role in helping each of our students develop the skills, the knowledge, and the habits of thought and reflection they need to live and thrive in the world as agents of Christ's Kingdom. Coursework is divided into "Foundations" courses that establish a strong framework for Christian higher education, and "Engaging" courses designed to deepen and expand our understanding of other people, creation, and the world we live in. It's a purpose-driven curriculum that also gives students a meaningful opportunity to help shape the direction of their own education. It's Malone University's way of ensuring that all of our graduates have the broad-based abilities and knowledge they need to prepare them for the workplace, and for life. Should any general education modification be made, the social work program faculty are committed to creating a flexible and creative interface for students as these changes occur.

Required Support Courses

To supplement and support the learning within the major courses, each social work student is required to take certain support courses. These courses count as either elective hours or count towards the required general education hours. The required support courses are as follows:

COURSE#	Course Title	Credits
One of each:		
♦ BIOL 172	Introduction to Human Biology	3
HIST 211 or	American History I or American History II	3
HIST 212		
♦ POL 201	Intro to American Government	3
♦ PSYC 121	Intro to Psychology	3
♦ PSYC 140	Intro to Statistics	3
PSYC 220	Psychology of Human Development	3
PSYC 344	Abnormal Psychology	3
SOC 310	Prejudice, Discrimination, Inequality	3
Total		24

[♦] also counts as a general education requirement

Social Work Courses

A major consists of 46 hours including SWK 222, 242, 262, 311, 312, 345, 347, 348, 372, 401, 440, 460 and one section of SWK 470. As noted above, the additional 24 hours of social work support courses include BIOL 172; HIST 211 or 212; POL 201; PSYC 121, 140, 220,344; SOC 310

Basic information regarding eligibility to graduate with a social work degree:

Students must maintain a 2.5 major GPA to remain a major in good standing. Both SWK prefix and the Malone University support courses for the social work program are included in this calculation of the GPA. In addition, students must receive a C or higher in SWK 345, SWK 347, SWK 348 and SWK 401 (all of the practice courses). To remain in the program, students must abide by the NASW Code of Ethics and by program policies as outlined within the Social Work Program Handbook.

The sequence of courses is complemented with a 450-hour senior practicum (SWK440) and connected seminar (SWK460).

Social Work Course Descriptions

SWK 211 - Community Based Cross-Cultural Experience (2)

This course requires both classroom experience and a 30-hour community experience throughout the semester. It provides an opportunity for students to engage with cultures or sub-cultures that are outside their cultural milieu. Class meetings present information on the historic, cultural, economic, and political realities faced by those served by the agencies in which the students are assigned. Prior to the experience, each student is required to meet with the faculty member in charge of the course to ascertain best times and placements for the student. Fulfills the Americans Cultures and Institutions component of the General Education Program, but is not required within the major.

SWK 222 - Introduction to the Profession and Practice of Social Work (4)

The purpose of this course is to provide students with an overview of the fields of practice in which social workers are employed, social work values, the nature of generalist practice, social welfare history and policies, populations-at-risk which are served by social workers, and professional social work ethics. A required 40-hour field practicum within a social service setting provides students with an introduction to professional social work. Prerequisite(s): PSYC 121. Co-requisite(s): SWK 262.

SWK 242 - Human Behavior and Social Environment (4)

This course examines different social science theories about human growth and development. The intent is to look at these theories in relation to the generalist social work perspective and in relation to diverse ethnic, racial, gender, religious, and age-related groups. It provides an understanding of the interactions between and among human biological, social, psychological, and cultural systems as they affect and are in turn, affected by human behaviors. Prerequisite(s): Prerequisites or co-requisites: PSYC 220; BIOL 172. For social work majors, SWK 262 is a required co-requisite.

SWK 262 - Research and Writing for Social Work Professionals (2)

This course will cover the basics of professional research and professional writing. Content will include both the use of APA as the professional standard for writing within the social work program and assessment and note taking in an agency setting. This class will also teach students how to research appropriately for social work writing and evidenced-based professional practice. For social work majors, SWK 262 is a required co-requisite.

SWK 311 - History of Social Welfare (3)

This course examines the historical development of the social welfare institutions, the development of the profession of social work, and the basic philosophies which have molded the structure and provision of service to vulnerable citizens throughout history. Prerequisite(s): SWK 242 or permission of the Department Chair.

SWK 312 - Social Welfare Policy Analysis (3)

This course develops a framework for understanding and evaluating social welfare policy at the national, state, local and agency levels, for analyzing policies related to certain population groups, and for understanding methods of achieving change in social policy. Discussion of policy making from a generalist perspective is introduced. Techniques for advocacy, as well as NASW Policies as reflected in *Social Work Speaks*, are discussed and analyzed. Social justice for those who have faced historic oppression within the United States is emphasized. Prerequisite(s): SWK 311 or permission of the Department Chair. Cross listed with POL 312.

SWK 345 - Practice with Individuals (4)

This course introduces students to the stages of the social work helping process: assessment, goal planning, intervention, evaluation, and termination. This course also assists students to appreciate diversity, develop culturally competent practice skills, use theoretical models to guide social work practice, and practice according to professional social work ethics. The course combines experiential learning activities, such as role-playing and case study analysis, with lectures and class discussion. Prerequisite(s): SWK 242 or permission of the Department Chair, approved in the major.

SWK 347 - Practice with Families and Groups (2)

The focus of this course is on applying the social work helping process learned in SWK 345 (Practice with Individuals) to social work practice with families and small groups (i.e., mezzo-level practice). Diversity issues and culturally competent practice are explored in the context of mezzo-level practice. The course also emphasizes the use of theories from social work and related fields to guide practice. The course combines experiential learning activities with lectures and class discussions. Prerequisite(s): SWK 345.

SWK 348 - Community and Organizational Development (4)

The focus of this course is on applying the social work helping process to social work practice with communities and organizations (i.e., macro-level practice). Diversity issues and culturally competent practice are explored in the context of macro-level practice. The course also emphasizes the use of theories from social work and related fields to guide practice. The course combines experiential learning activities with lectures and class discussions. The course also includes a 60-hour practicum focused on macro-practice. Prerequisite(s): Junior standing in social work major.

SWK 372 - Methods of Social Research (3)

This course introduces the student to the logic and skills of social science research, especially as it applies to the practice of social work. Special emphasis will be placed on knowledge of research terms, developing a critical approach to research studies, application of research techniques to practical situations, and use of others' research. Use of research and evaluation

techniques to improve practice effectiveness will be emphasized. Prerequisite(s): PSYC 140 or permission of the Department Chair.

SWK 401 - Professional Issues in Social Work (2)

This course critically examines social work's role in society and the basis for its knowledge, values, and skills. Students are sensitized to social work's role in a culture rich with diversity and are equipped with the necessary tools to develop reasoned responses to issues facing practice. The course focuses on application of professional social work ethics and the integration of these ethics with personal faith. Prerequisite(s): SWK 347, SWK 348; or permission of the Department Chair.

SWK 440 - Field Instruction in Social Work (10)

This course gives students an opportunity to observe and practice generalist social work in a professional setting. Field sites give students opportunities to practice micro, mezzo, and macro level social work in a variety of settings with diverse population groups. Students must apply generalist theory and practice that promote social work values. Co-requisite(s): SWK 460. This course can be taken in one semester at 10 credits or over two consecutive semesters at 5 credits each.

SWK 450 - Advanced Topics (1-3)

An opportunity for the student to pursue, under supervision, an area of special interest either on his/her own initiative or in a small group. Not required for the major. Open to juniors or seniors who are majors in this area and who have completed or are taking regularly scheduled courses. Permission of the Department Chair is necessary for enrollment.

SWK 460 - Field Instruction Seminar (2)

This course is designed to complement the student's internship. It functions to provide a forum to discuss field experiences and to make systematic connections between theory and practice. Intended Outcome: Entry-level social workers whose practice is systematically guided by theory. Co-requisite(s): SWK 440. This course can be taken in one semester at 2 credits or over two consecutive semesters at 1 credit each.

SWK 470 - Social Work Specialization Seminar (3)

Provides students with an opportunity to study special topics within the domain of social work, dependent upon faculty availability. Students must take one (1) specialization seminar to complete the program. Prerequisite(s): Junior or senior standing in Social Work.

SWK 476 - Global Practice (3)

The world is becoming increasingly interconnected, allowing for information, economic, and social issues to spread across borders rapidly. This Capstone Course for the Global and International Studies Program and social work elective will prepare students with a beginning

understanding of global issues that impact both local and domestic practice with international populations. From an interdisciplinary practice perspective, students will learn about current international issues and their impact on society. Utilizing an anti-oppressive framework, students will develop ethical skills based on principles of social justice, reconciliation, peace, and truth in preparation for both international and domestic practice in global contexts. Cross-listed with GISP 476.

SWK 477 - Global Practice Internship (1)

A 40-hour internship with a global population.

Cross-listed with GISP 477.

Overview of Curriculum Hours

Curriculum hours can be broken down into the following areas:

Gen Ed Courses 41-43 Social Work Courses 46 Support Courses 24

Electives (as needed to complete the 124 credit hours required for graduation)

DIVERSITY AND SOCIAL WORK

Acceptance and encouragement of diversity have long been hallmarks of the profession of social work. The Malone University Social Work Program is also committed to these practices. The program will not discriminate in its admissions or education based on multiple factors including but not limited to age, class, color, culture, disability and ability, ethnicity, gender, gender identity and expression, immigration status, marital status, political ideology, race, religion/spirituality, sex, sexual orientation, and tribal sovereign status. Students are expected to abide with the guidelines of the Malone Attitudinal and Behavioral Expectations and the Community Agreement as outlined in the University Catalog. Further, students are expected to understand and abide by the expectations outlined within this Handbook and the NASW Code of Ethics. The program is committed to presenting students with various perspectives on social issues and welcomes opportunities for students to be involved with those whose ethnicity, culture and/or experiences differ from the student's ethnicity, culture and experiences.

SOCIAL WORK GATE INTERVIEW

What was previously known as acceptance into the social work major, now named the Social Work Gate Interview, is a multi-step process. Once two social work classes have been completed at Malone, a student interested in majoring in social work should apply to conduct their social work gate interview. STUDENTS WITH INCOMPLETE APPLICATIONS WILL NOT PASS THE GATE INTERVIEW.

Basic information regarding eligibility:

Students must maintain a 2.5 major GPA to remain a major in good standing. Both SWK prefix and the Malone University support courses for the social work program are included in this calculation of the GPA. In addition, students must receive a C or higher in SWK 345, SWK 347, SWK 348 and SWK 401 (all of the practice courses). To remain in the program, students must abide by the NASW Code of Ethics and by program policies as outlined within the Social Work Program Handbook.

Prior to entry into SWK440/460, each social work student must have taken and passed a criminal background check (FBI and STATE in which internship will take place). A copy of this report must be on file in the Malone University Administrative Services office before Senior Placement begins.

Background Check Facts

A1 Background Check, located in North Canton, is Malone University's background check processing agency. Offering continual service to our students and departments, A1 Background Check accepts appointments at their Main Street office and schedules on campus required background checks during selected class times.

Students are required to complete an "A1 Background Check Waiver Form" and "Malone's BCII/FBI Background Check Waiver Form" prior to their appointment. Both forms are available to students through Malone Xpress under Student Resources. Forms are also on the Faculty tab of Malone Xpress.

The student must know the reason, type of background check, and whether or not the results need to be sent elsewhere prior to their appointment. Please note: Students needing a background check and the results are to be sent to Ohio Social Work Board – a copy of the results cannot be sent to Malone. Students must request a copy of their BCI results from the Ohio Social Work Board. Directions on separate sheet.

* The student will also need to provide their Malone University ID and their driver's license at the time of their background check appointment to receive special pricing.

\$ 65 BCI/FBI

\$ 39 FBI only

\$ 37 BCI only

Students can charge the cost to their student account or pay A1 directly (cash or check only). The cost is the same.

The Business Office is responsible for student billing, and providing copies of background check results. Background check results are valid for one year. The Business Office is not responsible for validating that background check results are sufficient for department requirements. Each department will be required to review their student's results.

Background checks results normally are received within 2 weeks. However, it can take up to 30 days for processing. Please encourage students to plan accordingly.

Contact information for remote background check:

A1 Background Check Doug Haubert – Owner 452 North Main St North Canton, Ohio 44720

Phone: 330-353-3733 Email: dphaubert@neo.rr.com

A1backgroundcheck.net

Please contact the Business Office at 330-471-8117 with any questions.

By the fall semester of the junior year, the student must:

- 1. Provide two reference forms in sealed envelopes (Appendix IV). At least one letter must be from a professional in a helping profession (i.e., counselor, social worker, program director, or administrator) who has worked with you and observed you in human services or in a human services related field (e.g., your supervisor if you worked as a camp counselor). One reference form may be from a faculty member who knows your work but who does not teach within the Social Work Program. Forms must be completed by those who have observed your work since you have become a college student. Please consult your faculty advisor if you have any questions regarding choices for an appropriate reference. References from relatives and friends are not acceptable.
- 2. At least 10 days prior to the formal interview (# 3 below), submit a brief statement (2-4 pages in length) to the department chair indicating why you want to be a social work major. This statement, autobiographical in nature, should include reference to both personal and professional ethics, and should discuss how impact the student's faith has had on his/her decision. If references are used, students should remember to utilize APA citations and a source page. (Source page is not included in the total statement page count)
- 3. Meet with department faculty for a formal interview. At that time, faculty may ask questions about the references, the written statement regarding social work, and may reflect with the student about his/her abilities and areas of growth. TRANSFER STUDENTS: If a student transfers into the program s/he should plan for this interview to take place at the end of his/her second semester at Malone.
- 4. Show satisfactory academic progress, maintaining a 2.5 major GPA. As noted above, students must be aware that the support course GPA is factored by the registrar in determining SWK GPA. In addition, students are expected to maintain the University

based requirements for overall GPA, and comply with the Malone University Community Agreement to remain in the program.

1. Have on file with the social work program a signed release of information form, Please note: although signing this form is not required, faculty will not release any information to prospective employers nor will they release information regarding a student's attendance at the university without such written permission. The only exception to this would be if the University was issued a subpoena and deemed that it was required to release the information under the law.

If these steps have not been completed, the student may not enter Senior Field Placement.

The department may take one of three actions:

- 1. Student passes gate interview.
- 2. Student did not pass gate interview.
- 3. Postpone consideration of pass or denial to a later date; this would typically only occur if there were extenuating circumstances facing the student such as health problems or school interruptions.

The student will be notified by formal letter sent via email regarding the action determined by the faculty within 10 business days of the interview.

Continuing Acceptance:

At least once a year, full time faculty members will meet to review the work that has been accomplished by those who are majors and/or have indicated their desire to become SWK majors. Faculty will review each student's progress based on the criteria noted above. If concerns are raised during this meeting, a letter outlining such concerns will be sent to the student with appropriate, measurable steps which that student must take to remain in good standing within the program as well as specific dates by which these steps must be accomplished. Failure to accomplish the steps may jeopardize a student's good standing within the program.

If a student wishes to appeal the steps outlined within the letter, s/he may use the steps outlined within the formal grievance procedure.

COURSE PERFORMANCE

Students who do not meet the program's academic requirements may repeat a course. Such students must complete all academic requirements for the repeated course as if the course had not ever been taken previously by the student. By Malone University policy, those students who successfully repeat a course at the University will be able to substitute the higher grade for the initial, lower grade on their transcripts. Those who

take that course at another institution, however, will have that grade factored into their overall GPA with the lower grade remaining on the transcript.

APPLICATION TO FIELD WORK

To enter the senior field placement, the student must meet the following criteria:

- 1. Pass the Social Work Gate Interview.
- 2. Maintain a 2.5 major GPA (calculated as the GPA for all SWK prefix courses and all required support courses). If a student does not meet the GPA requirement, prior to entering senior field placement he/she must retake support and or SWK courses until he/she has achieved a 2.5 GPA. In some cases, student GPA is not calculated until after a student has been placed in senior field. If it is determined that the student did not maintain a 2.5 GPA, the student will be removed from senior field, and will not be allowed to count the hours completed toward senior field credit at a later time.
- 3. Complete all required SWK prefix courses and support courses.
- 4. Have a criminal background check on file with the Malone University Administrative Services Office.

If a student desires to complete an internship at his/her place of employment, the student must demonstrate in advance that the internship will consist of learning experiences, assignments, and instruction/supervision beyond the normal scope of the student's employment. The student must also be supervised by someone other than his/her employment supervisor. The field placement supervisor must hold the required credentials for field instructors. A student desiring to complete an employment-based internship must meet with the Malone University Field Education Coordinator during the semester prior to the internship to discuss his/her wish to intern with his/her employer. The Field Education Coordinator will assess whether the situation is conducive to a valid learning experience taking place. The Field Education Coordinator may require that the student and agency submit a Student Learning Contract prior to the end of the semester preceding the scheduled internship.

TRANSFER POLICY

Any student transferring to the social work program must complete all the above steps. The time frame for completing these steps will be adjusted by the Chair of the Program in consultation with social work faculty on a case by case basis.

Transfer credits from other CSWE accredited social work programs will be evaluated by the Chair of the Department of Social Work. The Chair's recommendations regarding social work transfer credit will be provided to the registrar's office. Students can receive social work credit for courses taken within a CSWE-accredited program. If courses are evaluated to be equivalent to a Malone University social work course taken within a CSWE-accredited program or a program which is formally associated with a CSWE-accredited program (e.g., a "2+2 program,") credit will be granted.

Students who desire to transfer support courses or General Education credit will follow the procedures outlined in the University catalog. The registrar's office evaluates such courses to determine if Malone will allow the transfer of credit.

STUDENT INFORMATION ON FILE

Three sets of files are maintained on each social work major during a student's course of study at Malone University.

- Each student's academic advisor has access to an electronic file which holds biographical data, grades, and other information with which the advisor assists the student to make appropriate course selections while at Malone University. Students in good standing also have complete access to their file. Advisors may also maintain paper records regarding academic actions taken by the university, advising appointments, etc.
- 2. The department also maintains a record of information on each student who completes the sophomore field experience and/or applies for the social work gate interview. This file contains information related to field work, including documentation of a criminal background check being completed; the student's personal statement (see admissions criteria); references; and other records related to the social work program. This file is retained indefinitely to serve as a resource for accreditation purposes and as a reference file to better answer questions from potential employers. The information will not be shared with those outside the University without written consent by the student/former student.
- A record of each student's senior field placement is also retained. This file contains the student's learning contract, field research design, the student's evaluation of the host agency, the evaluations of the student by the field instructor, and other materials related to the internship.

Upon graduation files described in #2 and #3 are combined for a complete record of student achievement, and may be used to assist faculty to write letters of reference when requested by former students. As noted above, this information will not be shared with those outside the University without the written consent of the student. Students are required to receive written permission by evaluators to release any field internship evaluations to those outside of the University unless the Field Instructor has given permission to have the evaluation form released within 12 months of the request for release.

ACADEMIC GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

The purpose of this grievance procedure is to provide undergraduate Malone students an opportunity to process grievances regarding academic issues (e.g., course grades, class procedures, or academic integrity). A student wishing to pursue an academic grievance should follow the procedure described below.

Informal Process

Initially the student shall present his or her academic grievance informally in a meeting with the appropriate faculty member and his or her immediate supervisor (i.e., the chair of his or her department; or if the school has no chairs, the dean of the school). In the case of a grievance against a department chair, such informal meeting shall be with the department chair and the appropriate dean; and for a grievance against a dean, the meeting shall be with the dean and the Provost. The purpose of any such meeting shall be to seek clarification and resolution through a discussion of the student's grievance. The student, faculty member, and/or other appropriate academic official shall suggest means of bringing the grievance to resolution. If a satisfactory resolution of the matter is not reached in that manner, the student may then enter the formal process described below.

Formal Process

- 1. Following the informal grievance process, the student must submit the grievance in writing to the faculty member and his or her immediate supervisor, provided the appropriate conditions are met (see "conditions for filing and handling grievances" below). The student, the faculty member, and his or her supervisor shall meet to review the matter.
 - a. If the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed is a regular faculty member in an academic department with a chair, then the immediate supervisor is the department chair.
 - b. If the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed is in a school without chairs, then the immediate supervisor is the Dean of the school.
 - c. If the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed is a department chair, then the immediate supervisor is the Dean of his or her school.
 - d. If the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed is a dean, then the immediate supervisor is the Provost.

Conditions for filing and handling grievances

The student must submit the academic grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor of the faculty member (as defined above). This grievance shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) class days from the date final grades were issued by the Registrar for the course in question. The grievance shall include statements of the grounds for the grievance, supporting evidence and suggested steps to resolve the matter. In the event the grievance is related to a final grade, one or more of the following conditions must be met for a formal grievance to be filed:

- a. The student shall provide written evidence that the assigned grade was based on arbitrary, unlawful, or non-academic criteria.
- b. The student shall provide written evidence that the assigned grade did not accurately reflect his or her fulfillment of course requirements and/or course policies, as stated in the course syllabus (for example, class attendance, grade standards, or penalty for late or incomplete work), or other applicable requirements of the University.

A copy of the grievance shall be given to the appropriate faculty member. Within ten (10) class days of the receipt of the written grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the student and with the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed to review the matter. The immediate supervisor shall respond in writing to the student and the faculty member, indicating his or her decision and recommendations regarding the matter, within ten

(10) class days of meeting with the student. In the event the formal grievance involves a course grade, the immediate supervisor may recommend that the faculty member change the grade, or that the faculty member review course and/or grading requirements and re-evaluate the grade accordingly, or the immediate supervisor may determine that there is insufficient evidence to support the grievance.

- 2. Either the student or the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed may appeal in writing to the next appropriate administrator, provided the appropriate conditions are met (see "conditions for filing and handling appeals" below). The next appropriate administrator is determined as follows:
 - a. If the grievance has first been submitted to a department chair, the written appeal shall be submitted to the dean of that chair's school.
 - b. If the grievance has first been submitted to a dean, or if the grievance has been ruled upon by a dean and subsequently appealed by either the student or the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed, the written appeal shall be submitted to the Provost.

Conditions for filing and handling appeals

Either the student or the faculty member may appeal the decision of the immediate supervisor in writing to the next appropriate administrator who will render a decision in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the written notice of appeal. A copy of the appeal notice, which must include copies of the grievance and appealed decision shall be given to the party against whom the appeal has been filed, the immediate supervisor who heard the initial grievance, and (if applicable) any other appropriate administrator who has handled the appeal (e.g., a dean or the Provost). After reviewing the appeal notice and accompanying documents, this next appropriate administrator may summarily dismiss the appeal if he or she determines that the appeal clearly is without merit, or if he or she determines that the above-stated conditions for filing a grievance have not been satisfied. If the appeal is summarily dismissed by this administrator there is no further basis for appeal. If he or she has not summarily dismissed the appeal, he or she may meet with the student, faculty member, and/or appropriate administrators who heard the appeal previously to seek further information regarding the merits of the appeal and to assist in making his or her determination.

3. In the event that an appeal has been ruled upon at the Provost level and has not been summarily dismissed by the Provost, either the student or the faculty member against whom the grievance has been filed may appeal the decision of the Provost in writing, to the Academic Council with a copy to the Provost. Following receipt of such appeal notice, if all previous steps of the formal grievance process have been taken, and the grievance has not been summarily dismissed, the Provost within thirty (30) calendar days, shall convene a meeting of the Academic Council which shall act as a review panel for the matter. The Academic Council shall request that Student Senate appoint two student participants and one alternate (to serve if one of the appointees has a conflict of interest or cannot otherwise attend) as ad hoc members for the sole purpose of hearing the appeal. Prior to the meeting, materials, including, but not limited to, the following, shall be distributed to members of the Academic Council: the student's written grievance (a copy of which shall have been provided to the appropriate faculty member, department chair,

dean, and Provost), and any evidence provided by the student in support of it, along with an account by the faculty member, presenting his or her decisions and rationale regarding the matter, and any pertinent information provided by the Provost including the communication regarding his or her decision concerning the resolution of the matter. Neither the Provost, the dean, nor any other directly involved official shall have a vote in this proceeding, nor shall any such official participate in the meeting of the Council concerning said appeal, unless called in by the Academic Council as a resource person. Council members who have a conflict of interest in the matter shall recuse themselves from the discussion and deliberations of the Academic Council concerning such matter. Acting in its capacity as a review panel, the Academic Council is not empowered to change a grade given by a faculty member, or to force a faculty member to change a grade. In grievance cases related to a final grade, the Academic Council may take one of three actions:

- a. The Council may recommend that the faculty member change the grade.
- b. The Council may recommend that the faculty member review course and/or grading requirements and re-evaluate the grade accordingly.
- c. The Council may deny any requested grade change.

The Academic Council will submit its recommendations in writing to the student, and to the faculty member, department chair, dean, and Provost within fifteen (15) calendar days of the above-described meeting of the Council.

Integrity – Academic

Personal integrity is a behavioral expectation for all members of the Malone University community: faculty, staff, and students. We are called to personal integrity by the desire and obligation to model our lives after that of Jesus Christ. As noted in the biblical Principles underlying the statement of Malone University Community Responsibilities, "Love for and accountability to God are the primary motivation for Christian conduct." Christ calls us in John 14:15 to keep his commandments and in Ephesians 5:8-9 we are reminded to walk as children of the light showing truth as a fruit of the Spirit. Academic integrity is that part of personal integrity which encompasses all activities in the learning process. It is the consistent demonstration of honorable behavior in all academic endeavors.

There are times, for example, when pressure to minimize work load, increase academic standing, or assist other students may lead to actions that breach academic integrity, and thereby personal integrity as well. Participation in academic activities and/or submission of academic work that includes any form of deception is an inappropriate response to that pressure. Appropriate resources for responding to this pressure are available by consulting with faculty.

Collaborative study endeavors are both permitted and encouraged under certain circumstances. However, it is essential for faculty, staff, and students to have a common understanding of the factors that distinguish acceptable and unacceptable academic behaviors. The list of examples given below describes situations in which academic integrity is not being maintained. It is provided to help clarify academic behaviors that must be avoided.

While it does not constitute an exhaustive list, it is sufficiently comprehensive to inform even those students who might otherwise compromise academic integrity unintentionally, unconsciously or as a result of lack of knowledge.

Policy from Malone University Catalog:

http://catalog.malone.edu/content.php?catoid=20&navoid=1282#Integrity Academic

I. Exemplary, Non-Comprehensive Definitions and Explanations Regarding Unacceptable Academic Conduct

A. Plagiarism¹

- submitting as one's own work, part or all of an oral or written assignment which
 is copied, paraphrased, or purchased from another source, including world
 wide web and other online sources, without proper acknowledgement of that
 source. In written assignments, using three or more words in succession from
 a source without quotation marks and proper acknowledgement can be
 considered plagiarism
- 2. submitting as one's own, course work which has been prepared or extensively revised by someone else
- B. Accomplice in Plagiarism
 - 1. allowing one's work to be copied
 - 2. doing work for another student
 - 3. maintaining a file of papers with the intent that others may review them or use them for submission
 - 4. offering aid that differs from or exceeds that which is expressly approved by the instructor for any exam or course activity
 - 5. disseminating confidential information
- C. Disruption of Learning
 - 1. destroying educational resources and materials
 - 2. removing, destroying, or otherwise compromising the academic work of another student
- B. Academic or Scientific Misconduct

- 1. misrepresenting attendance or reason for absence
- 2. using information or accepting aid which is not approved by the instructor; this may include but is not limited to
 - a. using notes during a closed-book test
 - b. soliciting information about the contents of an assignment or test
 - c. looking at another student's test paper during testing
- 3. accessing and/or disseminating unauthorized material
- 4. falsifying data or information for a course activity
- 5. submitting work that was already done for a previous course without prior approval of the instructor of the current course
- 6. submitting the same work for two concurrent courses without prior approval of both instructors
- II. Faculty Responsibility in Upholding Malone University's Academic Integrity Policy
 - A. Responsibility to Inform Students
 - Faculty members are responsible for clearly communicating the Academic Integrity Policy to students. This is accomplished through two primary methods:
 - a. providing information about the policy, and about the importance of reading and understanding the policy, at the beginning of each course
 - b. informing all incoming students of the policy through such vehicles as The College Experience course (GEN 100), freshman orientation, and orientation meetings for graduate and other non-traditional programs.
 - 2. In order to clearly communicate expectations regarding academic integrity for each individual course, faculty members' syllabi should contain at least the following information:
 - a. Definition of Academic Integrity and/or reference to definition and explanation in the Catalog or Student Handbook. NOTE: If a faculty member's definition of academic integrity differs in any way from that

- published in the Catalog or Student Handbook, the difference(s) must be clearly articulated in the syllabus.
- b. Examples of academic dishonesty specific to the course
- c. Explanations of the specific sanctions to be imposed. Sanctions could include a required rewrite of a plagiarized paper with a reduction of grade or failure of a test where cheating occurred. The maximum sanction available to be imposed by a faculty member is failure of the course. All incidents of infringements of academic integrity by an undergraduate student (including degree-completion students) are to be reported to the Provost or his designate who may take further action in the case of multiple infractions (section III. A.1. b.) and may consult with and advise the faculty member throughout the process.
- d. Reference to appeal process in Catalog
- e. Faculty should clearly and completely discuss the above information and encourage students to seek clarification concerning the policy on the first day of class and throughout the course.
- B. Responsibility to Be Aware of Violations Malone University faculty members are responsible for encouraging academic integrity, while simultaneously being vigilant in observation and intervention when academic integrity may be compromised. Possible actions include remaining in the classroom to monitor student behavior during examinations, arranging classroom seating to avoid crowded conditions during examinations, providing cover sheets for students to use during examinations, actively investigating suspected cases of plagiarism, etc.
- C. Responsibility to Address Suspected Violations
 - Malone University faculty members are responsible for taking steps to investigate suspected violations, and discussing the incident with the student(s) involved. Though this process may result in the decision to impose sanctions, faculty should approach it with the intent to manifest Christian love, seeking a balance of justice and grace, and demonstrating concern for the moral and intellectual development of the student(s).
 - 2. If a violation of the Academic Integrity Policy is suspected, the faculty member must meet with the student(s) to discuss the incident and determine to the faculty member's satisfaction whether or not a violation of the Academic Integrity Policy has occurred.

- 3. If a student is accused of violating academic integrity, but subsequently the faculty member determines that the student is innocent, or if insufficient evidence exists to justify further action, the student should be informed of this determination in writing. Appropriate confidentiality will be maintained with respect to documents and information related to the accusation.
- 4. If the faculty member determines that a violation of academic integrity has occurred, a report should be filed with the Provost's Office and a duplicate of the report provided to the student and the appropriate Dean/Department Chair. The report should contain the following information:
 - a. Complete description of incident
 - b. Date of meeting with the student
 - c. Conclusions reached as a result of the meeting
 - d. Sanctions imposed
 - e. Recommendations to the Provost regarding whether or not additional action should be taken
 - f. Description of the appeals process available to the student or reference to this process as published in the Catalog or Student Handbook
 - g. Student and faculty signatures and date indicating that the report has been delivered to the student
- 5. The faculty member should keep originals of tests, papers, etc. that provide evidence of the violation.
- 6. The student, after meeting with the faculty member, may respond to this report if he or she desires. The student may initiate an appeal by submitting in writing his or her response to the situation to the appropriate Dean/ Department Chair with a duplicate of this letter to the Provost and faculty member. The student and department should proceed with the grievance procedure, formal process, as outlined in the Catalog.
- III. Continuation of the Process in Upholding the Academic Integrity Policy
 - A. Initial Involvement of the Provost
 - 1. After the submission of a faculty report in the Provost's Office, the Provost may take either of the following actions:

- a. If no other reports exist, no appeal has been made, and the Provost deems that the faculty member's corrective action was appropriate, the report will be filed within the office. If future reports are received pertaining to the same student, the Provost will then have access to previous reports and may choose to proceed to the step described in Subsection (b) below. The contents of this file will be purged based upon the established retention of records policy governing such reports².
- b. If the Provost's file indicates that the student has committed a serious violation of the Academic Integrity Policy, or that there have been multiple violations by said student, the Provost may submit a request for a hearing before the Academic Council concerning such violation(s). The purpose of this Academic Council hearing is to determine whether additional University-level action is justified by the serious or repeated nature of academic integrity violations. Previous actions taken with regard to the student's academic violation(s) will be upheld. If the Academic Council determines that a student's record of violation(s) is of sufficient seriousness that action at the University level is warranted, then the Academic Council will take action to impact the student's current and future status at Malone University, such as suspension or expulsion.
- B. Final Involvement of the Provost the student may request an appeal of the Academic Council's decision. The Provost will review an appeal submitted by the student, all documentation provided to the Council, and the written conclusions of their deliberations and recommendations. The action of the Provost will be considered final.

¹Confusion can arise in distinguishing between collaborative work and plagiarism. The following excerpt from The Writer's Community (by David J. Klooster and Patricia L. Bloem, Martin's Press, 1995) is intended to help resolve any potential misunderstandings:

"All good writing builds on the work of previous writers, but the best writing enriches that work, departs from it, transcends it, or even changes it, helping readers to see what came before in new ways. Writers on any subject need to know what others have said about the topic, and if they are to contribute to that conversation, they need to say something new...An original thinker moves the conversation forward by helping the participants see something new. A plagiarist pretends to be original and thereby risks holding the conversation back or even halting it altogether. For any conversation to become a true discussion, the speakers and listeners must be able to trust one another. Plagiarism breaks that trust...What is finally at stake, it seems to us, is that a relationship of trust exists between the reader and writer, and any deception or misrepresentation or dishonesty on the writer's part - or the writers' parts - violates that trust. Plagiarism, one

form of this violation, is a serious offense, not first of all because it is stealing, but because it is dishonesty. Integrity is at stake."

²Files/reports will be maintained by the Provost for a period of at least five (5) years after the last date of the student's enrollment or at least one (1) year after the student's actual graduation, whichever last occurs.

ACADEMIC HONESTY

Complete honesty is expected of all students in all academic exercises at Malone University. In the preparation of academic exercises students must state fully and accurately all sources employed and assistance received. All students are expected to uphold the policy on academic integrity as described in the Malone University Catalog. Any type of cheating or plagiarism will lead to disciplinary action by the faculty members involved and/or the University judicial process described in the Malone Student Handbook.

ACADEMIC PETITION

Due to special or unique circumstances, a student may need to amend or alter the requirements within her/his academic program. The academic petition process provides the means for this kind of request and the petition itself serves as the official documentation for any such change that is approved. The process is as follows: 1) Obtain the Academic Petition Form from the Records Office. 2) Fill out the form according to the instructions and obtain the signature of the Department Chair. 3) Return the signed form to the Records Office. Final approval will be granted only at the discretion of the Dean of the School of Arts and Sciences.

ACCESSIBILITY SERVICES – DISABILITY ACCOMMODATIONS STATEMENT

If you are a student with a physical, learning, and/or psychological disability and plan to request any academic accommodations for class, you are required to bring your instructor an authorization letter from Malone's Center of Student Success - Accessibility Services listing the permitted accommodations. The instructor will work with you to arrange your accommodations from the point in time that you deliver and discuss such an authorization letter with him/her. The director of Accessibility Services will keep your disability documentation confidentially in that office alone. Please note that reducing assignments, extending the due dates of assignments, or reducing the class attendance requirement are never permitted as accommodations for a disability at the college level. Malone's Center for Student Success is located in Founders Hall, Room 68.

ATTENDANCE POLICY

Students are expected to attend every class meeting of courses in which they are registered. Only in specific, unavoidable situations does the University excuse absence from class; 1) personal emergencies, including, but not limited to, illness of the student or of a dependent of the student, or death in the family; 2) religious observances that prevent the student from attending class; 3) participation in University-sponsored activities, approved by the appropriate University authority, such as intercollegiate athletic competitions, activities approved by academic units, including artistic performances, academic field trips, and special events connected with coursework; 4) government-required activities, such as military assignments, jury duty, or court appearances; and 5) any other absence formally approved through the Office of the Provost.

COMPLETION OF WORK

Social work is a profession which often involves working with those who have been marginalized by others. It is critical to show clients dignity and respect. Such respect includes both being prompt and accomplishing the work that the social worker has agreed to accomplish with the client within an agreed upon timeframe. To assist students to become more proficient in accomplishing such important behaviors, all Malone University SWK faculty will expect that assignments to be completed on time and in the professional manner outlined in the student accountability guidelines outlined below. Students who turn in assignments later than the day and/or time outlined in a syllabus, should expect that they will receive reduced credit for that assignment. Faculty can decline to grade late assignments.

ADVANCED PLACEMENT: ACADEMIC CREDIT THROUGH EXAMINATION

As described in the University Catalog, University credit may be earned through a variety of ways including such methods as examination, proficiency examinations, professional training, and experiential learning.

Per CSWE regulations, no student shall be granted advanced credit or life learning experience credit for social work courses or for Field Instruction. Both advanced credit and experiential learning credit are available to assist qualified students to meet general education requirements. Please refer to the University Catalog for details on these programs.

STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY

TO PROMOTE STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT IS INCLUDED ON ALL SYLLABI

Please note:

- A. For classroom discussion and testing, the professor will assume all information has been read.
- B. Your professor upholds and STRONGLY SUPPORTS the Malone Academic Integrity Policy (see Malone Catalog). According to the policy, professors may impose appropriate sanctions for violation of the policy. Possible sanctions include giving a lower or failing grade for the assignment or giving a failing grade for the course.
- C. All sources used in papers must be cited; this includes paraphrased material as well as direct quotations. The use of someone else's words or ideas without acknowledgement of the source constitutes plagiarism, which is a violation of the Malone Academic Integrity Policy (see Malone Catalog and Item "B" above).
- D. Students who wish to appeal a professor's decision (including decisions regarding the Academic Integrity Policy) must follow the appeal process discussed in the Malone catalog.
- E. Class Absence Policy: Students are expected to attend every class meeting of courses in which they are registered. Only in specific, unavoidable situations does the University excuse absence from class;
 - 1) personal emergencies, including, but not limited to, illness of the student or of a dependent of the student, or death in the family; 2) religious observances that prevent the student from attending class; 3) participation in University-sponsored activities, approved by the appropriate University authority, such as intercollegiate athletic competitions, activities approved by academic units, including artistic performances, academic field trips, and special events connected with coursework; 4) government-required activities, such as military assignments, jury duty, or court appearances; and 5) any other absence formally approved through the Office of the Provost.

NETIQUETTE (Online Etiquette)

- Written communications can enable you to get to know your instructor and classmates on a deep, rather than just a superficial level. You will have opportunities to express your thoughts in depth through the online communication tools, but there are special rules of personal conduct that apply to online communication in this class.
- Make sure to have a meaningful subject line for your email and message board contributions so others will know what to expect. (Notice that when you reply to a discussion post, you can change the subject line if appropriate to something more meaningful.)
- Be polite and respectful. It can be tempting to let yourself go in an environment that
 feels anonymous, but remember that there are real people reading your messages.
 Good online manners are vital to a productive and supportive online learning
 environment. A useful test for anything you're about to post or mail is to ask yourself,
 "Would I say this to the person's face?" If the answer is no, rewrite and reread.

- Be tolerant of views expressed by others. Keep in mind that you probably have something to gain from exposure to views and backgrounds different than your own.
- When reacting to someone else's message, address the ideas, not the person. Again, remember that there are real people on the other end.
- Be careful when using sarcasm and humor, and don't include any obscenities in your messages. Without face-to-face communications, it is more difficult to interpret the shades of meaning in the messages. People may misinterpret your remark, and you never know who may be offended by expressions that are commonplace to you.
- Avoid using all capital letters, which are interpreted as shouting.
- Don't send commercial advertisements or "chain mail" to your classmates.
- Avoid lengthy posts—or, warn the reader about the length before they start to read.
- If you want to post a message only to one person, send a private email message
- The discussion board is not a chat room. Use Standard English grammar and spelling, not abbreviated chat language. You are expected to post messages of substance, not simply "I agree".
- Discussion is an integrated aspect of this course. Given the topics that are covered, it
 is likely that there will be strong responses for a variety of reasons. I encourage the
 free exchange of ideas, and feel that this is an extremely valuable part of our learning
 experience. Please keep the following things in mind.
 - Avoid making personal attacks on others in the class. Aside from being hurtful, it also tends to discourage people from participating.
 - Try to be open to points being made by others. The diversity of experience and philosophy represented in the class are an important part of the learning process.

Social Work Program Policy on Academic Writing

Academic writing in social work is expected to identify and build upon the work of reliable authors. In this process, it is very important that students adhere to the following requirements:

- Current American Psychological Association (APA) style must be used for formatting and citation of all social work papers.
- Both quotations and paraphrased material must be cited in APA style.
- Quotations should not make up a large portion of any paper. It is important that students show an ability to understand, synthesize, and critically integrate the thoughts of others by putting these thoughts into their own words.
- APA style title pages should be used for all papers.
- APA style headers should be utilized, including page numbers.
- Abstracts are not necessary for student papers.
- All APA guidelines should be followed unless this policy or a professor states otherwise.
- Headings should be used and should correspond to the various aspects of the assignment.
- Professional and academic sources should be used for all papers. Wikipedia and similar websites of unsubstantiated quality and validity should not be used as sources. Popular websites and other media may be used to discuss the popular understanding of, or conversation around, a topic, but information from such sources

- should not be presented as factual or reliable unless other corroborating sources are cited.
- All papers should be typed utilizing standard fonts and 12-point size.
- All papers should be firmly stapled in the left hand top corner. If the paper is too long for a staple to firmly hold the paper together the paper may be placed in a lightweight binder.

TERMINATION FROM THE PROGRAM

Students must meet and maintain an acceptable level of performance to graduate from the Social Work program. A student will be terminated from the program if one or more of the following are found to be present.

- 1. They do not meet the academic requirements for admission/retention in the social work program as outlined above.
- 2. The student is terminated from the school for academic or other reasons.
- 3. They fail to abide by the "student accountability" guidelines.
- 4. They are found in ongoing violation of the NASW Code of Ethics while participating in a Social Work Program sponsored activity, classroom or field experience.
- 5. They fail to satisfactorily complete the Senior Field Practicum.

Termination Process:

If a student is in jeopardy of termination from the program the following process will be utilized:

If the student is terminated from the program due to a University determination (#1 and 2 as noted above), Malone University procedures will take precedence over departmental procedure. The student is welcome but not required to speak to social work faculty about the University decision.

If the student is in jeopardy of termination for alleged violations of departmental policy or the NASW Code of Ethics, the following procedure will be followed.

1. Prior to initiating a formal process, the concerned faculty member must meet with the Chair to discuss issues regarding student performance. The Chair will decide whether to proceed with the formal process.

The Formal Process:

2. If the formal process is determined to be warranted, the Chair will contact the student in question. The student will be informed of the concern and will be informed that the formal process for possible termination has been initiated. The student will be asked to set up an appointment with the Chair of the program within 5 school days to discuss allegations and concerns. The faculty member who has expressed concerns will be

asked to be present at this meeting except in unusual circumstances. If the concern involves a field-related issue, the Field Director will be present at the meeting. Student will be informed that the Dean of the School of Theology, Arts, & Sciences will be informed of the concern.

- 3. At this meeting, the Chair will provide the student with written documentation of the concerns. The student will be asked to respond in writing to the concerns. The written response must be provided to the Chair within 10 school days of the meeting. If the written response is not received by the tenth day, the process will automatically move forward. If the concern arises at the end of the Spring Semester, or during summer, the student will be given 2 weeks from the meeting to respond.
- 4. The student's response will be placed in the student's official social work record. Within 5 school days of receiving the response, (or, in the case of the students' having not responded, 15 school days after the initial meeting) the Chair will convene a meeting of full-time faculty to determine what action is appropriate. The student will be sent written notification of the recommended action. A copy will be placed in the student's official social work record. The letter must be postmarked no later than 7 school days from the receipt of the student's response (or, in the case of the students' having not responded, 22 school days after the initial meeting with the Chair).
- 5. Actions may include, but are not limited to (1) no action needed; (2) remedial work needed, (3) termination from the program. If remedial work is warranted, the student will be placed on program probation until the remedial work has been completed. A full time faculty member will monitor probation.
- 6. If the student is dissatisfied with the decision, he or she can initiate the University grievance policy that is described in the University catalog.

FACULTY ACCOUNTABILITY

Faculty members recognize their responsibility to provide students with the opportunity to learn the foundations of generalist practice. To this end, students can expect that members of the social work faculty will:

- 1. Be accessible to students by maintaining regular office hours. These will be posted on each faculty member's office door and within course syllabi.
- 2. Will return work to students promptly.
- 3. Will provide appropriate verbal and/or written feedback to students on all papers, exams, and exercises.
- 4. Will grade students' work fairly and without bias.
- 5. Will link social work theory and practice in ways which enhance the student's understanding of the generalist knowledge base.
- 6. Will expect students to complete assignments that are relevant to the changing nature of society and human relationships.
- 7. Will uphold the NASW Code of Ethics.

8. Will model the integration of faith and learning both inside and outside the classroom.

NASW CODE OF ETHICS

A copy of the NASW Code of Ethics should be obtained by all social work majors. These are available in the bookstore or online at www.naswdc.org. Students are expected to understand and uphold the tenets of the Code in all aspects of their professional life.

OHIO CODE OF ETHICAL PRACTICE AND PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

A copy of the administrative Code governing all licensed Social workers in the state of Ohio can be obtained from the Ohio Counselor, Social Work and Marriage and Family Therapist Board's website at: http://cswmft.ohio.gov/Investigations/EthicalPractice.aspx Access http://cswmft.ohio.gov/LawsRules/LRa.aspx for the Ohio Administrative Code.

Students are required to comply with the NASW Code of Ethics and the Ohio Code of Ethical Practice and Professional Conduct while practicing in their Senior Field Placement.

SOCIAL WORK PROGRAM POLICY ON ACADEMIC WRITING

Academic writing in social work is expected to identify and build upon the work of reliable authors. In this process, it is very important that students adhere to the following requirements:

- 1. Current American Psychological Association (APA) style must be used for formatting and citation of all social work papers.
- 2. Both quotations and paraphrased material must be cited in APA style.
- 3. Quotations should not make up a large portion of any paper. It is important that students show an ability to understand, synthesize, and critically integrate the thoughts of others by putting these thoughts into their own words.
- 4. APA style title pages should be used for all papers.
- 5. APA style headers should be utilized, including page numbers.
- 6. Abstracts are not necessary for student papers.
- 7. All APA guidelines should be followed unless this policy or a professor states otherwise.
- 8. Headings should be used and should correspond to the various aspects of the assignment.
- 9. Professional and academic sources should be used for all papers. Wikipedia and similar websites of unsubstantiated quality and validity should generally not be used as sources. Popular websites such as Wikipedia may be used to discuss the popular understanding of, or conversation around, a topic, but information from such sources

- should not be presented as factual or reliable unless other corroborating sources are cited.
- 10. All papers should be typed utilizing standard fonts and 12 point size.
- 11. All papers should be firmly stapled in the left hand top corner. If the paper is too long for a staple to firmly hold the paper together the paper may be placed in a lightweight binder.

APA Format

There are numerous styles of writing academic reports. The social work program requires the use of the APA report format. Handbooks on this format may be found in the Malone University Bookstore. Any formal term paper required in any social work course (courses with SWK prefix) will use this writing style. Citations and references must adhere to this format.

SOCIAL WORK STUDENT ASSOCIATIONS

The social work students at Malone University have two Student Senate approved student associations.

- 1. The Social Work Club serves as an avenue to fellowship with other social work students, to learn more about the profession of social work, and to provide service to the community. Presentations on substance abuse, domestic violence, and rape, along with service projects such as hosting a Christmas party for children of battered spouses living in a domestic violence shelter, have all been part of this club.
- 2. The Pi Eta Chapter of the Phi Alpha Honor Society is a social work honor society whose purpose is to provide a closer bond among students of social work and promote humanitarian goals and ideals. Phi Alpha fosters high standards of education for social workers and invites into membership those who have attained excellence in scholarship and achievement in social work. The Malone University Chapter participates in activities in conjunction with the social work club and other activities when available. Membership criteria include achievement of sophomore status, a 3.0 over-all cumulative GPA, and a minimum GPA of 3.25 in 8 semester hours of required social work courses. A one-time, lifetime membership fee is paid by the student and is required to become a member. Senior Phi Alpha members are eligible to apply for a Phi Alpha Honor Society Scholarship to be applied to furthering their education. See www.phialpha.org for more information.

In addition to our senate approved student associations, half day and/or full day workshops and other special events are scheduled throughout the year.

Involvement in the social work club, Phi Alpha, and most special events are voluntary. Fees for the social work club are covered through fund-raising activities and through student services fees. Activities are usually scheduled monthly. Some workshops and special events will be required for all social work majors. These events are most often planned well in advance and their status is most often indicated on course syllabi.

FULL-TIME FACULTY INFORMATION

Associate Professor Andy Reynolds, PhD, MSW, LISW-S

Dr. Reynolds is the Social Work department chair for the Social Work Program. His previous experience in teaching at the university level provides a good foundation for his teaching at Malone University. Andy earned his baccalaureate degree in Christian Ministries and MSW (emphasis on child & family) from Asbury University. He completed his Ph.D. in Social Work from The University of Kentucky. Andy's dissertation was titled, "Does Childhood Psychological Abuse Strengthen or Weaken MSW Social Workers and Allied Professionals' Compassion Fatigue and Compassion Satisfaction?" Andy's research focus areas are compassion, clinical social work, and the intersection of social work practice and faith.

Phone: 330-471-8185 E-Mail: <u>areynolds@malone.edu</u>

Professor Elizabeth Patterson Roe, Ph.D. MSW, LISW-S

Dr. Roe is the Director of the Center for Intercultural Studies. She received her Bachelors of Arts in Social Work degree from Mount Vernon Nazarene University in 1998 and her Masters of Social Work degree from Roberts Wesleyan University in 2001. She completed her doctoral work in 2015. Her dissertation research explored the influence of international practicums on social workers' career choices and practice approaches. Prior to her faculty appointment at Malone University in 2007, Elizabeth spent five years serving as the director of social services for Veritas, a faith-based social and educational services organization in Sighisoara, Romania that provided services for children, youth, families, and elderly. Her main goal within this position was to support, train and empower local Romanians in their leadership within Veritas. Elizabeth also supervised student field experiences and taught classes within the Romanian Studies Program. Elizabeth continues to serve on the advisor board for Veritas and the legal board for the Romanian Studies Program. Elizabeth is an active member of the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) and North American Association of Christians in Social Work (NACSW). Elizabeth's areas of professional and academic interest include international social work education, global social work practice and international development, church social work and community development.

Phone: 330-471-8626 E-Mail: eproe@malone.edu.

Assistant Professor Rebekka Russell, MSW, LSW

Prof. Russell is the Social Work Field Director for the Social Work Program. She graduated with her Bachelors of Arts in Social Work from Malone University in 2009, then with her Masters of Social Work from The University of New England in 2013. Bekka began teaching at Stark State College in 2013 before beginning to teach at Malone University as an adjunct instructor in 2016. Prior to those teaching experiences, Bekka held jobs as a community psychiatric supportive treatment (CPST) provider for adults, teenagers, young children, and preschoolers. In addition to that role, Bekka also taught small groups, school-based groups, and parenting groups with The Incredible Years curriculum. Bekka has worked at various non-profit agencies, as well as in a consultant role with Head Start. Bekka is an active member of the National Association of Social Workers (NASW). Bekka's areas of professional and academic interest include child welfare (specifically foster care and adoption), trauma, mental health, human trafficking, and working with survivors of sexual assault. In addition to her role as instructor, Bekka and her husband, Bryan,

are licensed treatment foster parents and adopted a sibling group of three children in January 2019.

Phone: 330-471-8480 E-Mail: rrussell@malone.edu

MALONE UNIVERSITY AND SOCIAL WORK ACCREDITATION AGENCIES

Accreditation:

Accredited – The Higher Learning Commission; Member – North Central Association HLC/NCA
30 North LaSalle Street, Suite 2400
Chicago IL 60602-2504
1.800.621.7440

Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education

202.887.6791

CCNE
One Dupont Circle NW, Suite 530
Washington DC 20036-1120

Council on Social Work Education (Baccalaureate level)

CSWE 1725 Duke Street, Suite 500 Alexandria VA 22314 703.683.8080

National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education

www.ncate.org/ NCATE 2010 Massachusetts Avenue NW, Suite 500 Washington DC 20036 202.466.7496

Accreditation Council for Business Schools and Programs (Master of Business Administration; Master of Arts in Organizational Leadership; Bachelor of Arts in Accounting, Business Administration, Management, and Sport Management)

ACBSP 11520 West 119th Street Overland KS 66213 913.339.9356

Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (Master of Arts in Clinical Counseling and School Counseling)

CACREP 1001 North Fairfax Street, Suite 510 Alexandria VA 22314 703.535.5990

Appendix 1:

CSWE EDUCATIONAL POLICY AND ACCREDITATION STANDARDS

NOTE: Information in Appendix 1 is taken from the CSWE 2015 Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards

(Accreditation Guidelines available in the Social Work Department upon request.)



Introduction

Accreditation is a system for recognizing educational institutions and professional programs affiliated with those institutions as having a level of performance, integrity, and quality that entitles them to the confidence of the educational community and the public they serve. The Commission on Accreditation (COA) of the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) is recognized by the Council for Higher Education Authority to accredit baccalaureate and master's degree programs in social work education in the United States and its territories. The COA is responsible for formulating, promulgating, and implementing the accreditation standards for baccalaureate and master's degree programs in social work, for ensuring the standards define competent preparation, and for confirming that accredited social work programs meet the standards. To this end, CSWE's COA administers a multistep accreditation process that involves program self-studies and benchmarks, site visits, and COA reviews.

The accreditation review process provides professional judgments on the quality of a social work education program in an institution. These findings are based on applying the Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards (EPAS) promulgated by the Commission on Educational Policy (COEP) and the COA. The essential purpose of the accreditation process is to provide a professional judgment of the quality of the program offered and to encourage continual improvement. Moreover, systematic examination of compliance with established standards supports public confidence in the quality of professional social work education and in the competence of social work practice.

EPAS Revision Process

The COA and the COEP are responsible for revising the EPAS. The revision takes place in accordance with the CSWE bylaws, which mandate that the policy statement be reviewed by COEP "at periodic intervals not to exceed 7 years." CSWE's recognition by the Council for Higher Education Authority also requires that accreditors have a process whereby standards are reviewed periodically by the COA.

The most recent standards review process took more than 5 years and resulted in three drafts issued for public review and comment. The intent of the COA and the COEP was to solicit feedback from as many constituents as possible in as many ways as possible. The COEP and the COA would like to thank the programs, individuals, organizations, and communities of interest that provided feedback on all of the drafts.

The educational policy, which details the new social work competencies for the 2015 EPAS, was developed by COEP and approved by the CSWE Board of Directors on March 20, 2015. The accreditation standards were developed and approved by the COA on June 11, 2015. Programs that have reaffirmation reviews in October 2017 or later will use the 2015 EPAS to prepare their self-studies. Programs applying for candidacy in 2016 and beyond would use the 2015 EPAS for their benchmark documents.

For updated information about the 2015 EPAS, please visit www.cswe.org/Accreditation or send an e-mail to accreditation@cswe.org.

Purpose: Social Work Practice, Education, and Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards

The purpose of the social work profession is to promote human and community well-being. Guided by a person-in-environment framework, a global perspective, respect for human diversity, and knowledge based on scientific inquiry, the purpose of social work is actualized through its quest for social and economic justice, the prevention of conditions that limit human rights, the elimination of poverty, and the enhancement of the quality of life for all persons, locally and globally.

Social work educators serve the profession through their teaching, scholarship, and service. Social work education at the baccalaureate, master's, and doctoral levels shapes the profession's future through the education of competent professionals, the generation of knowledge, the promotion of evidence-informed practice through scientific inquiry, and the exercise of leadership within the professional community. Social work education is advanced by the scholarship of teaching and learning, and scientific inquiry into its multifaceted dimensions, processes, and outcomes.

The Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) uses the Educational Policy and Accreditation Standards (EPAS) to accredit baccalaureate and master's level social work programs. EPAS supports academic excellence by establishing thresholds for professional competence. It permits programs to use traditional and emerging models and methods of curriculum design by balancing requirements that promote comparable outcomes across programs with a level of flexibility that encourages programs to differentiate.

EPAS describe four features of an integrated curriculum design: (1) program mission and goals, (2) explicit curriculum, (3) implicit curriculum, and (4) assessment. The educational policy and the accreditation standards are conceptually linked to each other. Educational Policy describes each curriculum feature. Accreditation standards are derived from the Educational policy and specify the requirements used to develop and maintain an accredited social work program at the baccalaureate (B) or master's (M) level.

Competency-Based Education

In 2008 CSWE adopted a competency-based education framework for its EPAS. As in related health and human service professions, the policy moved from a model of curriculum design focused on content (what students should be taught) and structure (the format and organization of educational components) to one focused on student learning outcomes. A competency-based approach refers to identifying and assessing what students demonstrate in practice. In social work this approach involves assessing students' ability to demonstrate the competencies identified in the educational policy.

Competency-based education rests upon a shared view of the nature of competence in professional practice. Social work competence is the ability to integrate and apply social work knowledge, values, and skills to practice situations in a purposeful, intentional, and professional manner to promote human and community well-being. EPAS recognizes a holistic view of competence; that is, the demonstration of competence is informed by knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive and affective processes that include the social worker's critical thinking, affective reactions, and exercise of judgment in regard to unique practice situations. Overall professional competence is multi-dimensional and composed of interrelated competencies. An individual social worker's competence is seen as developmental and dynamic, changing over time in relation to continuous learning.

Competency-based education is an outcomes-oriented approach to curriculum design. The goal of the outcomes approach is to ensure that students are able to demonstrate the integration and application of the competencies in practice. In EPAS, social work practice competence consists of nine interrelated competencies and component behaviors that are comprised of knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive and affective processes.

Using a curriculum design that begins with the outcomes, expressed as the expected competencies, programs develop the substantive content, pedagogical approach, and educational activities that provide learning opportunities for students to demonstrate the competencies.

Assessment of student learning outcomes is an essential component of competency-based education. Assessment provides evidence that students have demonstrated the level of competence necessary to enter professional practice, which in turn shows programs are successful in achieving their goals. Assessment information is used to improve the educational program and the methods used to assess student learning outcomes.

Programs assess students' demonstration of competence. The assessment methods used by programs gather data that serve as evidence of student learning outcomes and the demonstration of competence. Understanding social work practice is complex and multi-dimensional, the assessment methods used by programs and the data collected may vary by context.

The nine Social Work Competencies are listed below. Programs may add competencies that are consistent with their mission and goals and respond to their context. Each competency describes the knowledge, values, skills, and cognitive and affective processes that comprise the competency at the generalist level of practice, followed by a set of behaviors that integrate these components. These behaviors represent observable components of the competencies, while the preceding statements represent the underlying content and processes that inform the behaviors.

Competency 1: Demonstrate Ethical and Professional Behavior

Social workers understand the value base of the profession and its ethical standards, as well as relevant laws and regulations that may impact practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels. Social workers understand frameworks of ethical decision-making and how to apply principles of critical thinking to those frameworks in practice, research, and policy arenas. Social workers recognize personal values and the distinction between personal and professional values. They also understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions influence their professional judgment and behavior. Social workers understand the profession's history, its mission, and the roles and responsibilities of the profession. Social Workers also understand the role of other professions when engaged in inter-professional teams. Social workers recognize the importance of life-long learning and are committed to continually updating their skills to ensure they are relevant and effective. Social workers also understand emerging forms of technology and the ethical use of technology in social work practice. Social workers:

- make ethical decisions by applying the standards of the NASW Code of Ethics, relevant laws and regulations, models for ethical decision-making, ethical conduct of research, and additional codes of ethics as appropriate to context;
- use reflection and self-regulation to manage personal values and maintain professionalism in practice situations;
- demonstrate professional demeanor in behavior; appearance; and oral, written, and electronic communication;
- use technology ethically and appropriately to facilitate practice outcomes; and
- use supervision and consultation to guide professional judgment and behavior.

Competency 2: Engage Diversity and Difference in Practice

Social workers understand how diversity and difference characterize and shape the human experience and are critical to the formation of identity. The dimensions of diversity are understood as the intersectionality of multiple factors including but not limited to age, class, color, culture, disability and ability, ethnicity, gender, gender identity and expression, immigration status, marital status, political ideology, race, religion/spirituality, sex, sexual orientation, and tribal sovereign status. Social workers understand that, as a consequence of difference, a person's life experiences may include oppression, poverty, marginalization, and alienation as well as privilege, power, and acclaim. Social workers also understand the forms and mechanisms of oppression and discrimination and recognize the extent to which a culture's structures and values, including social, economic, political, and cultural exclusions, may oppress, marginalize, alienate, or create privilege and power. Social workers:

- apply and communicate understanding of the importance of diversity and difference in shaping life experiences in practice at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels;
- present themselves as learners and engage clients and constituencies as experts of their own experiences; and
- apply self-awareness and self-regulation to manage the influence of personal biases and values in working with diverse clients and constituencies.

Competency 3: Advance Human Rights and Social, Economic, and Environmental Justice

Social workers understand that every person regardless of position in society has fundamental human rights such as freedom, safety, privacy, an adequate standard of living, health care, and education. Social workers understand the global interconnections of oppression and human rights violations, and are knowledgeable about theories of human need and social justice and strategies to promote social and economic justice and human rights. Social workers understand strategies designed to eliminate oppressive structural barriers to ensure that social goods, rights, and responsibilities are distributed equitably and that civil, political, environmental, economic, social, and cultural human rights are protected. Social workers:

- apply their understanding of social, economic, and environmental justice to advocate for human rights at the individual and system levels; and
- engage in practices that advance social, economic, and environmental justice.

Competency 4: Engage In Practice-informed Research and Research informed Practice

Social workers understand quantitative and qualitative research methods and their respective roles in advancing a science of social work and in evaluating their practice. Social workers know the principles of logic, scientific inquiry, and culturally informed and ethical approaches to building knowledge. Social workers understand that evidence that informs practice derives from multi-disciplinary sources and multiple ways of knowing. They also understand the processes for translating research findings into effective practice. Social workers:

- use practice experience and theory to inform scientific inquiry and research;
- apply critical thinking to engage in analysis of quantitative and qualitative research methods and research findings; and
- use and translate research evidence to inform and improve practice, policy, and service delivery.

Competency 5: Engage in Policy Practice

Social workers understand that human rights and social justice, as well as social welfare and services, are mediated by policy and its implementation at the federal, state, and local levels. Social workers understand the history and current structures of social policies and services, the role of policy in service delivery, and the role of practice in policy development. Social workers understand their role in policy development and implementation within their practice settings at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels and they actively engage in policy practice to effect change within those settings. Social workers recognize and understand the historical, social, cultural, economic, organizational, environmental, and global influences that affect social policy. They are also knowledgeable about policy formulation, analysis, implementation, and evaluation. Social workers:

- Identify social policy at the local, state, and federal level that impacts well-being, service delivery, and access to social services;
- assess how social welfare and economic policies impact the delivery of and access to social services:
- apply critical thinking to analyze, formulate, and advocate for policies that advance human rights and social, economic, and environmental justice.

Competency 6: Engage with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that engagement is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers value the importance of human relationships. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge to facilitate engagement with clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand strategies to engage diverse clients and constituencies to advance practice effectiveness. Social workers understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions may impact their ability to effectively engage with diverse clients and constituencies. Social workers value principles of relationship-building and inter-professional collaboration to facilitate engagement with clients, constituencies, and other professionals as appropriate. Social workers:

- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks to engage with clients and constituencies; and
- use empathy, reflection, and interpersonal skills to effectively engage diverse clients and constituencies.

Competency 7: Assess Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that assessment is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge in the assessment of diverse clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand methods of assessment with diverse clients and constituencies to advance practice effectiveness. Social workers recognize the implications of the larger practice context in the assessment process and value the importance of inter-professional collaboration in this process. Social workers understand how their personal experiences and affective reactions may affect their assessment and decision-making. Social workers:

- collect and organize data, and apply critical thinking to interpret information from clients and constituencies;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the analysis of assessment data from clients and constituencies;
- develop mutually agreed-on intervention goals and objectives based on the critical assessment of strengths, needs, and challenges within clients and constituencies; and
- select appropriate intervention strategies based on the assessment, research knowledge, and values and preferences of clients and constituencies.

Competency 8: Intervene with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that intervention is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers are knowledgeable about evidence-informed interventions to achieve the goals of clients and constituencies, including individuals, families, groups, organizations, and communities. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge to effectively intervene with clients and constituencies. Social workers understand methods of identifying, analyzing and implementing evidence-informed interventions to achieve client and constituency goals. Social workers value the importance of interprofessional teamwork and communication in interventions, recognizing that beneficial outcomes may require interdisciplinary, interprofessional, and inter-organizational collaboration. Social workers:

- critically choose and implement interventions to achieve practice goals and enhance capacities of clients and constituencies;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in interventions with clients and constituencies;
- use inter-professional collaboration as appropriate to achieve beneficial practice outcomes;
- negotiate, mediate, and advocate with and on behalf of diverse clients and constituencies; and
- facilitate effective transitions and endings that advance mutually agreed-on goals.

Competency 9: Evaluate Practice with Individuals, Families, Groups, Organizations, and Communities

Social workers understand that evaluation is an ongoing component of the dynamic and interactive process of social work practice with, and on behalf of, diverse individuals, families, groups, organizations and communities. Social workers recognize the importance of evaluating processes and outcomes to advance practice, policy, and service delivery effectiveness. Social workers understand theories of human behavior and the social environment, and critically evaluate and apply this knowledge in evaluating outcomes. Social workers understand qualitative and quantitative methods for evaluating outcomes and practice effectiveness. Social workers:

- select and use appropriate methods for evaluation of outcomes;
- apply knowledge of human behavior and the social environment, person-in-environment, and other multidisciplinary theoretical frameworks in the evaluation of outcomes;
- critically analyze, monitor, and evaluate intervention and program processes and outcomes; and
- apply evaluation findings to improve practice effectiveness at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels.

Malone University Social Work Program Core Competency #10

Appropriately integrate Christian faith with professional social work practice and recognize the importance of spirituality to the human experience.

- Understand the Christian faith's commitment to caring for and empowering poor, disenfranchised, marginalized, and/or oppressed people groups
- Are able to articulate points of convergence and divergence between orthodox Christianity and the profession of social work
- Recognize the importance of spirituality to the human experience

Appendix 2:

Malone University Identity and Mission Statement

As approved by the Malone University Board of Trustees October 11, 2003

Malone University is a Christian University for the arts, sciences, and professions in the liberal arts tradition, affiliated with the Evangelical Friends Church.

The mission of Malone University is to provide students with an education based on Biblical faith in order to develop men and women in intellectual maturity, wisdom and Christian faith who are committed to serving the church, community and world.

Appendix 3:

Information Release Form

Information Release Form

I give my permission for the Malone University Social Work Department to release information from my University records for the purpose of application to graduate school and/or for the purpose of writing a professional reference.

Print Name		 	
Signature	-	 	
Date			
Witness		 	
Date			

Appendix 4:

Malone University Reference Form

Apper	pendix IV: Malone University Reference Form	
additional skilled are per candid possible	is applying for admiss ogram at Malone University and has submitted your name as a dition to adequate intellectual ability, the social work faculty is loo illed in their ability to work with and relate to people. The character perceived as important for success in the practice of social world date as compared with other students you know and return the ssible. The admission process cannot proceed until you have the information will be kept confidential.	a personal reference. In king for students that are eristics listed on the back ork. Please evaluate this his form to us as soon as
to adn	be signed by the student: I hereby authorize the release of this administration, and to academic committee members of Malone ting in their official capacities as employees of the institution.	
Signe	gned Da	ate
1.	Please indicate the nature of your relationship with the app you have known the applicant and the frequency of your inte	
2.	Please indicate your impression of the potential this applic social work career.	cant has to succeed in a
	Highest 10%	
	High potential for success	
	Will succeed	
	Will probably succeed	
	May fail	
Comm	omments:	

CHARACTERISTICS	% U P E R – O R	H - G H	A V E R A G E	U N S A T I S F A C T O R Y	L O W	NO BASIS FOR J U D G E M E N T	COMMENTS
Ability to Communicate Orally							
Ability to Communicate in Writing							
Skill in Human Relationship							
Motivation for a Social Work Career							
Ability to Work with Others							
Intellectual Capacity							
Flexibility							
Perseverance							
Leadership Qualities							
Creativity and Imagination							
Interest in Other People							
Integrity and Genuineness							
Self-Discipline							
Ability to Assume Responsibility							
Empathic Ability							

Name	Please return this form to:
Address	Social Work Program
	Malone University
Title	2600 Cleveland Ave NW
Signature	Canton OH 44709